Editorial: 

WHERE ARE THE INSTITUTIONS?

Whenever, Jammu Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) decides to organize its annual programmes like National Heroes Day (Robert Thorpe Award), Commemoration of Aasia Jeelani’s death anniversary or People’s Vision (interaction between people and politicians), the dilemma always being faced by the organization is where to conduct it. There are auditoriums in Kashmir University, Government Educational Institutions like B. Ed College, etc. JKCCS had earlier managed to conduct some programmes in these institutions. But these government-controlled institutions are unwilling to rent out premises for such programmes in future. The reasons are obvious. It is learnt that after the last People’s Vision programme conducted at a degree college in Srinagar, where Mr. Geelani and Mr. Mirwaiz from All Parties Hurriyat Conference (APHC) where questioned separately by the students about their mission, vision and goal, the college principal was transferred for giving permission for such activity. These institutions are only meant for holding seminars, symposiums on non-controversial issues or the issues not politically sensitive.

 
Since 1994, the APHC or other political parties fighting for right of self-determination of Kashmir are invariably holding conferences on political or human rights issues in the posh hotels. These conferences with sumptuous refreshment are held at exorbitant prices, which can be managed by these political groups, as they have the resources. But for self-funded organization holding the programmes in such hotels is not financially viable. The political groups in these hotels are also holding the press conferences. Kashmir is among the fewer places in South Asia with huge press presence but without a press club. The amount spend on these conferences from last one-and-half decade could have been enough for establishing a permanent place for these programmes. 

 
Few years back when JKCCS was founded, it used to rent out a room in a local hotel for its organizational meetings, but it was refused later as the meetings were simple and the un-inflated bills were not satisfactory for the hotel managers. Politely, JKCCS were told that the conference room is already booked. It is pity that the capital with the population surpassing one million is without any such institution. Despite conflict huge palatial houses have been raised and the price of the land is soaring. The Kashmiri diaspora most of them are in the Middle East are sending huge remittance/petrodollars, despite there are no such places or institutes for such activity. People are obsessed with raising mosques everywhere. Some people have donated land to the religious institutions. State has also provided land for the orphanage centers, even army (perpetrators) is supportive, but we don’t have a single place where at affordable prices voluntary organisations could conduct civil society activities. At Gandhi Peace Foundation, New Delhi such activities are conducted everyday on cheap prices. There is not a single example from Kashmir where a single person has bequeathed his property for raising such institute. And due to non-availability of such space, civil society initiatives have got stagnated. There are multiple reasons behind it. The philanthropy is more common in Christian societies. They have the history of raising institutions wherever one goes to the south Asian countries, Christian missionaries have laid such institutions long before and have evolved a culture for rejuvenating civil society and political movements. The other reason is, most of the institutes are being funded by the foreign foundations for which the registration under FCRA is prerequisite. Huge institutes in different countries of Asia have been raised with the foreign funding. 

One can understand non-issuance of the FCRA registration to the organisations, which questions the occupation of Jammu Kashmir but that is not the end of the world. It could be done indigenously as in most of the places. We have a section of elite who have huge financial resources, for them the problem is how to spend it. They don’t know money only empowers, not emancipates, it is the knowledge, which emancipates. We have the neo-riche class here, which has little exposure. They cannot be blamed. The Kashmiri diaspora well settled in European and Western countries having exposure have also failed the Kashmiri nation. There are innumerable instances where a section of affluent diaspora has spent huge money for philanthropic activity in their original places.  The other problem is that Kashmir has the culture of dependence. People expect for everything from the government or political organisations. This culture is to be changed. There is a need of laying institution where people can express their views, dissent, debate, discuss and question everything which is the hallmark of decent and civilized society. These institutions could also generate a culture of reasoning and tolerance. In past we Kashmiris have always failed in laying these institutes. It is not late in building institutions. It would be our success and it can liberate us.   
STUDENT TORTURED TO DEATH 

On November 18, 2006, unidentified gunmen picked up a boy and his father from their house and after two days of captivity the dead body of the boy was thrown in the nearby fields of the village. The father was set free on the next day of the arrest. The deceased was identified as Mohammad Yousuf Dar son of Ghulam Mohiudin Dar resident of Amlar, Tral, 35 kilometers from Srinagar city in south of Kashmir. 

Khatija, 60, mother of the slain Yousuf stated to The Informative Missive, “At around 6.40 pm on November 18, three unidentified gunmen dressed in civvies barged into our house while as two gunmen who were in army uniform remained outside our house. I asked them what they want and even I offered them tea. Without listening to me they called Yousuf and asked him about Professor Mohammad Ashraf, who is the Head of the History Department in Kashmir University and resident of Nawdal, Tral. The gunmen questioned my son “Do you know Professor Mohammad Ashraf, how many VIP vehicles visit his quarters daily at university campus”. My son replied that he knew the professor, as he is the Head of his department and further told them that he does not know anything about professor’s personal affairs. Yousuf had returned home from Srinagar the same evening of November 18. After questioning, the gunmen took my son but his father resisted. The gunmen told my husband that they would release Yousuf soon. My husband didn’t trust them and he accompanied them. My daughters and I pleaded for their release but the ruthless gunmen hardly paid any attention. When the gunmen moved out along with my husband and son, they bolted our door from outside. We raised hue and cry, which attracted the attention of our nearby relatives and neighbors. They all witnessed the whole scene and chased the gunmen but the barbaric gunmen fled away”. 

“Three weeks before this incident, similar unidentified gunmen had barged into our house and took my brother in a separate room for some questioning. We all were sitting in hall, meanwhile Yousuf shouted from the room “Baba save me”. We rushed towards the room. The door was closed; we broke the door and found the gunmen aiming their guns at Yousuf. He was pleading for his life. We got over the gunmen and clashed with them. We caught up their guns and in the scuffle one of our sisters got injured when she was hit in the head by the gun butt. We raised alarm, due to which all the villagers rushed towards our house. After thrashing us, the gunmen fled away”, said Fahmeeda, elder sister of the deceased Yousuf.

She adds, “My brother was never linked to any militant organization and was an innocent student. He completed his graduation from Degree College Tral and then got admitted in the University of Kashmir for his higher studies. He got admission in the History department and this year he had to appear in the last semester examination of his Master’s degree. He was running a tuition centre. We don’t know why was he killed mercilessly? All our hopes lied on him. We provided him education and were waiting that he would get employment. But the callous gunmen snatched him from us and ruined our all dreams and aspirations,” wailed Fahmeeda. 

   
Nazir Ahmad Dar, brother in law of the deceased Yousuf said, “I was sitting in my room, when I heard the cries of my family members. I rushed out and found the gunmen dragging my father in law and his son. Before, I could ask them about the arrest, they ran away towards a small hill called Vanbathu, situated few kilometers far from the village. We intimated the concerned police post. Next day in the morning, my father in law was released and he got to his home at seven in the morning. We asked him about Yousuf and told him where they were detained. He responded anxiously that Yousuf would be released soon, but didn’t say anything regarding the place of detention. He was terrified and could not talk to us properly. He further said that they were blindfolded and were taken to some unknown place but he was not tortured. When asked about Yousuf’s release, he replied that he would be released at 10am. My father in law had also received a mobile phone number from the abductors as they had told him to call on that number for communicating to his son and to the abductors. We waited till 10 am but there was no sight of Yousuf.  We then moved to the police post and filed a report there. We also visited army camps, SOG camps and contacted many agencies in order to ascertain his whereabouts but nothing divulged out. We called on the phone number, which was given by the abductors, but we couldn’t get connected as the phone number was switched off. In the evening of November 19, we received a phone call from the very number, which was given by the abductors, and Yousuf was on the phone. During the conversation, Yousuf told that he is safe and would be released soon. However, while Yousuf was talking, one of the abductors voiced a few words, which were audible to us that “Yousuf is an informer and helped army in accomplishing many raids”. And with it the cell phone got switched off. Then we thought that he would be released and we were restlessly waiting for his arrival.  Eventually, on the fateful day of November 21 (fourth day of arrest), we were intimated by the residents of Vanbathu Nawdal village about Yousuf’s dead body, which was found in the nearby fields. The news about his death spread shock waves across the village. As soon as we reached the spot, we were informed that Yousuf’s dead body was taken to Police Station Awantipora. When we arrived at police station, police had shifted his dead body to the sub district hospital Pampore for autopsy. The autopsy proved that Yousuf died of the brutal torture, which was inflicted on him in captivity. Torture marks were visible on his neck and wrists. The whole body was blistered with cigarette burn marks and there were bruises beneath the left ear. We received the dead body from the hospital and brought that to our native village and buried it in our native graveyard”.


The police station lodged an FIR vide number 153/06 under section 364 relating to the killing of Yousuf. The police have mentioned some names of the militants in the report and have stated them responsible for the killing. 

TRADE UNION LEADER KILLED

A trade union leader was killed after unidentified gunmen picked him from his house and slaughtered him by slitting his throat. The deceased was identified as Mohammad Munawar Bhat, 52 son of Ali Mohammad Bhat resident of Lurgam, Tral, Pulwama, 55 kilometers away in south of Kashmir. From the past 16 years, it is the 14th killing of its kind by the unidentified gunmen in the Lurgam village where in throats of the civilians have been slit.

Ajaz Ahmad Bhat, elder son of deceased Munawar Bhat said to The Informative Missive, “We were residing in Srinagar at Silk factory quarters for the last one year, because my father was a Sales Supervisor in the Silk Factory, Rajbagh. In order to celebrate the Eid festival with our relatives, we came back to Tral three days before the Eid. In the evening of 25th October, day of Eid-ul-Fitr, at around 7:15pm, some unidentified gunmen entered into our courtyard after jumping over the wall and called us out. I accompanied my father and opened the door. They asked my father to accompany them, as they wanted to discuss some matter. My father agreed but I refused to let my father go with them. However, my father told me that the gunmen would not hurt him; they just want to discuss some matter and then he accompanied them. The gunmen also responded that they just want to talk to him over some issue and then he would be back. We thought that the gunmen might be demanding some money from my father as gunmen belonging to various militant organisations used to take money from us. My father was carrying rupees 15,000 in his pocket and was also carrying a cell phone. We were waiting for his return up to late night but he did not come back. Next day on 26th October, in the morning we started searching for him. We approached all the nearby army posts and ascertained about my father’s whereabouts but nothing divulged out. Because of the fear of unknown gunmen and militants, we did not inform police and didn’t file any report regarding the abduction of my father. In the evening of October 26 at around 5pm, some persons informed us that my father’s dead body is lying in the fields of Luraw Jageer village, which is one kilometer away from our village. We rushed to the spot and found my father’s dead body with his throat slit. My uncle Mohammad Kamal Bhat and other villagers took the dead body to the sub district hospital Tral for autopsy. The postmortem report proved that my father’s throat was chopped off after he was subjected to severe torture and there were visible torture marks all over his body. All the nearby villagers gathered at the sub district hospital Tral and took the dead body to the native village in the form of a procession and later buried the body in the native graveyard. Regarding the killing of my father, police station Tral lodged an FIR vide number 65/06 under section 364, 302 RPC and 7/25 Arms act”.


Nayeema, 42, wife of the slain Munawar Bhat wails, “My husband was innocent and we don’t know why was he killed? He was innocent and worked as a sales Supervisor in the Silk Factory and was also a trade union leader. He was spending his fulltime in the departmental work and was a great philanthropist. The whole area knows him for his generous deeds and contributions. Few days before his killing, he gave rupees 1000 to his son and told him to give the money to the two widows of our village, so that they could celebrate the Eid festival. Besides people, many times militant organizations took donations from him, but the miscreants did not tolerate his generous deeds and killed him. Through several rumors, we came to know that the reason for my husbands killing was his appearance on the television. Few weeks ago, my husband organized many departmental rallies and conducted many demonstrations in which the protesters were demanding the release of pending salaries. During these demonstrations, a group of trade union members met Chief Minister G.N. Azad. That meeting was telecasted in the evening Doordarshan News and also published in the local dailies. In the media coverage, my husband was addressing to his employees in presence of Chief Minister. His presence on the television screen might have offended the militants and they killed my husband. He had no political affiliation and was fighting for the rights of his employees, but his kind efforts took his life”.

Elder son of the deceased, Ajaz Ahmad told, “We also heard from some sources that my father was killed by the militants. One of the reasons of his killing was apparently his appearance on television screen. Secondly, militants often came to our house and were taking money and other materials from us, but now we weren’t giving anything to them for the last one-year, as we were residing in Srinagar for the last twelve months. The militants thought that we collected wealth and kept that in the bank and this is believed to be another reason which resulted in the killing of my father”.

STUDENT DISAPPEARED IN CUSTODY

Two brothers were arrested during the intervening night of 24 and 25 October (2006) for questioning on charges of receiving some phone calls from a blacklisted person.  However, none of the person was subjected to torture and were released after a week long arrest.  Immediately, after their release, the following day, same posse of Special Operations Group (SOG) also arrested Azad Ahmad Wani, neighbor of the two brothers and since then his whereabouts are not known. 


The brothers were identified as Mohammad Altaf Ahangar, 44 and Mushtaq Ahmad Ahangar, 48, both sons of Late Ghulam Ahmad Ahangar, resident of the Malik Sahab, Nowhatta Srinagar.

People took to streets and held strong protests at Gojwara – Nowhatta area. Residents of the area strongly condemned the arrests and held strong protests against the SOG. Vehicular movement was stopped through the area and protesters demanded for the immediate release of the brothers. The demonstrators stated that Altaf and Mushtaq are innocents and have nothing to do with the militancy. 

The family members of arrested brothers contacted police station Nowhatta and intimated them about the arrest. Police officers replied that arrests were made without informing them. The demonstrators continued dharnas (sit-ins) for six days till elder brother Mushtaq Ahmad was released. Next day after Mushtaq’s release, in the morning of November 3, a 10th class student Azad Ahmad Wani, 16, son of Mohammad Amin was also arrested by the SOG. The day Azad was arrested; Altaf Ahangar was released the same evening.   

 
Altaf Ahmad Ahangar, one of the released persons told to The Informative Missive, “In the intervening night of 24 and 25 October, 2006 at around 1:15 am there was knocking at our door. My brother and I went out and opened the door. We found the SOG personnel at the door. They asked for our names and when we told our names, they caught us and took us outside our courtyard. Our children and wives raised hue and cry and pleaded for our release but they didn’t listen to anybody and forcibly boarded us in a sumo vehicle and took us to the SOG quarters Cargo where both of us were detained. In the SOG quarters we were questioned that we receive calls from some blacklisted phone numbers and were also asked about the identity of those persons who made such calls on our Landline number. We responded most of the incoming calls on our number are our neighbor’s calls and many of our neighbors have given our phone number for communication purposes. We also pleaded that we don’t know which of our neighbor receives calls from the said numbers. We were kept under detention for seven days, but we were not tortured. On the seventh day, it was Friday, when my brother Mushtaq was released in the morning. On the same day afternoon, the SOG personnel threatened me of torture. I replied that I am ready to get tortured but by torturing me you won’t get anything from me, because I am innocent. Next day I was shifted to police station Nowhatta wherefrom I was released at around 5 pm. Even after our release, we are terrified. When I was handed over to the police personnel of police station Nowhatta, I forgot my identity card in the camp. I told one of the policemen that I want my identity card back; the policeman replied that I should thank Allah for my release from the hellish camp and there is no need to take the identity card back. Then I left the identity card there. Neither we were involved in any unlawful activity, nor were we detained ever. By profession I am a silver smith and spend all my time in the workshop at my residence. My brother Mushtaq is associated with shawl business and works in Kolkata. Few days before the arrest, he had reserved a train ticket for Kolkata. The day he had to leave for Kolkata, he found himself in the cargo camp”.

In the morning of the day Altaf was released, police following a scuffle between Azad and a person, arrested Azad. 


Hameeda, 60, wailing mother of Azad told The Informative Missive, “In the morning of 3rd November at around 11am Azad left for Nowhatta. On reaching Nowhatta, a person caught him and told him to accompany him, which he resisted. He had some brawl with the said person and the nearby shopkeepers noticed this. The shopkeepers came to the scene and asked the person why are you fighting with Azad as my son was well known to the shopkeepers. The person replied that my son has stolen his mobile phone. In order to prevent the quarrel, shopkeepers called upon police station Nowhatta. Station House Officer (SHO) Nowhatta came to the spot and took both Azad and the person to the police station. Some of the shopkeepers came to my house and informed me about the incident. I rushed to the police station and requested the gatekeeper to let me in. He refused to allow me and told that he would first call SHO outside. SHO and the person who got my son arrested came out. The person told me that your son has borrowed Rs65000 for some bike transaction and didn’t return. He also told me to provide Rs. 65000 and then Azad would be released. I replied that I want to talk to my son if he confesses that he has borrowed money from you then I will sell my house for the payment. The person and the SHO didn’t permit me to meet my son. When my son was arrested from Nowhatta Chowk that time the person told to the shopkeepers that my son has stolen his mobile phone and when I talked to him he told me that my son has borrowed money from him. I was confused and terrified. After half an hour SOG vehicles came to the police station and took away my son. I along with my neighbors pleaded for the release of my son but the ruthless SOG personnel didn’t listen to us and fled away. I asked the police inmates, where my son was taken. They responded that he might have been taken to police station Khanyar. I rushed to the Police Station Khanyar and met Superintendent of Police (SP) Bashir Khan. I intimated him about my son’s arrest and narrated the whole incident to him; he in return told that he would look into the matter but told that Azad is not in his captivity. Subsequently, I again approached police station Nowhatta and told police personnel to file a report regarding the arrest of my son which police refused by saying that they don’t know why my son was arrested? However, they were well aware of the arrest and the agency, which picked up my son from the police station. I along with my family members and the residents of the area strongly protested against the arrest of Azad and held a demonstration at Gojwara Chowk. In order to pacify the protesters police came to the spot and assured us that the whereabouts of Azad and his release will be intimated soon. Next day, we again staged a demonstration at Nowhatta Chowk but police did not approach us.  On the same day in the evening, the SOG raided at our house around 7:15. The SOG personnel searched our house and asked us “where is Azad?” we replied that he was taken by you, why are you asking so? They replied that they didn’t arrest Azad. After searching the house they left the house. After one week, the SOG men raided our house again. This time the SOG personnel after searching our house asked us for Azad’s shaving kit and his school bag. They took some study material from his bag and went away. The subsequent raids frightened us because at the time of raid only my four daughters were in the house. I had gone to meet SP Bashir. My son was not involved in any unlawful activity and he was a regular student in the Government High School, Nowhatta. Due to some family problems, he could not appear in the annual examination. In order to support the family, he started to work with a private company as a marketing executive. He had been working with the company for the last two months and was drawing a meager amount of Rs1000 as salary. We don’t know why was he arrested? What SOG wants from him? We want to meet him but we don’t know where he is?” 

Hameeda further adds, “Without divorcing my husband left me, my four daughters and my son 10 years before. Without caring for us, he married another woman and is presently living with her at Ganderpora, Eidgah. A decade before when we filed a case against him and demanded for the maintenance, different lawyers pleaded our case. Money was extracted from us and we were deceived every time. We could not receive justice from any end. Now all our hopes were lying on Azad and I was thinking that I would get my son educated so that he could support us, but the barbaric SOG personnel shattered all our aspirations by arresting my son without any reason. Azad was our only hope and we are in waiting for his return”.


     
  NATIONAL HEROES& ROBERT THORPE AWARD CEREMONY

On November 23, 2006, Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) honored Khawaja Mir Abdul Aziz, an exiled Kashmiri journalist and resistance leader as National Hero and conferred Robert Thorpe award on Abdur Rauf Wani posthumously. Abdur Rauf Wani was the heroic young man who took nearly 32 bullets fired from a light machine gun by a paramilitary trooper on his chest, saving scores of lives at Gaw Kadal, Srinagar on January 21, 1990 during a protest march in which 52 people were massacred. 

JKCCS has been annually organizing the programme to honor the unsung heroes since 2003. It also confers Robert Thorpe award on the people who render exemplary services for promoting the cause of Kashmiri people. Robert Thorpe fought against the tyranny in Kashmir under the Dogra rulers and lost his life resisting the oppression.

A number of learned people including academicians, students and scholars expressed their views on the occasion.

At the award giving ceremony many speakers said the government of India and the state government were projecting “collaborators of occupation” as the real heroes of Kashmir. 

“They haven’t projected any person who offered resistance during the resistance movements and didn’t compromise. The state has been honoring the brutal Dogra rulers who massacred the people of Kashmir; they have established Gulab Singh and Zorawar Singh chairs in Universities, but haven’t done anything for the unsung heroes of Kashmir. The civil society was trying to bring out the lives of heroes from the oblivion and introduce them to the younger generation who don’t know anything about them”, said Parvez Imroz, President JKCCS. 

Peer Ghulam Rasool, columnist who deliberated on the Concept of National Hero said, “Government of India and the state government have been projecting the collaborators as real heroes for the past 50 years. They have also been dehumanizing and denigrating people, like they did to Kabailis (tribal raiders). Many of the people who were resisting against the rule of Dogra Maharaja and later the Indian rule and communal Indian parties have been clubbed together with Kabailis. Internationally renowned leftist thinker and writer Eqbal Ahmad was one of those people who have been denigrated as Kabaili raiders”.


Dr. Hamida Nayeem, Professor, English Department, Kashmir University said, “Enslaved nations have no histories, their histories are written by the occupation and colonial forces. “When a nation becomes free only then can it write its own history and decide who the hero is. Today’s hero can become tomorrow’s devil. During his early life, Sheikh Muhammad Abdullah was a hero, but see how we look at him today. Sheikh Muhammad Abdullah succeeded in weakening the autocratic set-up but committed historical and monumental blunders after which he was designated as the collaborator of India. Kashmir history was being shaped by a huge dominating nation and there was clear demarcation between stages and those people fighting for the rights of people. The state machinery has manufactured and concocted our history. Kashmiris have not been able to write their own history. We have produced great scholars and intellectuals who can be designated as national heroes like Lallitaditya, Sheikh-ul-Alam (RA), Lalla Ded, Kalhana and others. Maqbool Bhatt who challenged the Indian domination didn’t compromise despite being tortured severely. Dr Aga Shahid Ali despite being an apolitical person had become an international hero and a symbol of Kashmir by writing about anguish of people of Kashmir in his book “A country Without Post Office”. The academia was in the hands of dominant powers and that is why the Kashmir history wasn’t made the part of curriculum. We are taught world history, Indian history, but our children know nothing about their own history.  The politicians are misinterpreting the saints and poets of our valley”. 


Dr. Sheikh Showkat Hussain, Lecturer, Faculty of Law, Kashmir University said, “The best way to remember heroes is not through awards but to carry forward the mission for which they tried and died.  Mir Khawaja Abdul Aziz proceeded against the tide and led a miserable life. He didn’t cash on his sacrifices, which has become a trend with present leaders. Pakistani authorities had jailed Mir Abdul Aziz for his critique of erroneous Kashmir policies after the failure of Operation Gibraltar. Mir Abdul Aziz and Ghulam Nabi Gilkar were each offered 35 acres of land in Islamabad after their release, but they declined saying that they have to go their homeland when the issue would be resolved”. 

Zulehuma Banday, sister of Rauf, received the Robert Thorpe award: a trophy and a shawl. She thanked JKCCS for giving recognition to Rauf. Zulehuma said, “The sacrifice of Rauf is for a bigger cause and Kashmiris have been sacrificing for the past hundreds of years; we should not forget those who sacrificed their lives for that bigger cause. Rauf, 24, did his schooling from prestigious Tyndale Biscoe School. As 18-year old boy in 1984 when Sikhs were massacred in Delhi and when riots erupted in the Valley, he jumped the window in second story of his home and saved the life of a labourer who was tying laces of his shoe and was shot at in his head. Rauf had responded to the cries of the labourer when people closed their doors and windows in wake of police firing. Rauf was jailed for a month during 1987 for his support to Muslim United Front in the elections that were rigged in favor of National Conference.

On January 21, 1991, thousands of people took out a huge protest march against molestation of women by the troops in Chotta Bazaar locality by paramilitary CRPF troops. The then government headed by Governor Jagmohan allowed the march to proceed for nearly two kilometers, but when it reached Gaw Kadal, the peaceful protesters without any provocation were fired at indiscriminately by paramilitary troopers and police led by Deputy Superintendent Police Allah Baksh. Fifty-two people including women died and nearly 250 were wounded. 


JKCCS executive member Zahir-ud-Din, one of the protesters and eyewitness of the massacre said, “Rauf rushed towards a trooper who was mowing down unarmed people with a light machine gun and faced the barrel, took all the bullets in the magazine. January 21, 1990 incident was a turning point in the history of freedom struggle. The Gaw Kadal massacre was a planned one. The day Farooq Abdullah resigned, Jagmohan issued a statement saying if any one tried to disturb law and order the card of peace will slip out of my hand. After Jagmohan’s statement people were expecting that something bad was in the offing. Gaw Kadal massacre occurred after his statement and turned the struggle into mass movement as from that day, the youngsters starting going across the Line of Control”. 

Noted civil rights activist from New Delhi, Gautam Naulakha while delivering his presidential address said, “The history of oppressed and occupied is not written by their own people but is provided by the occupiers and collaborators. National heroes are needed during the struggle as they support and inspire the people during the movement when the chips are down. 51,288 militants were arrested and tortured; they are also the heroes whom we don’t know and they did not surrender. Only 3800 surrendered. Freedom movement was because of the people as they aspired for it”. 

Zareef Ahmad Zareef, poet and social activist, trade union leader Sampat Prakash and Dr. Altaf Hussain, renowned pediatrician and Dr. Mubarik Ahmed, well known physician also paid glowing tributes to Khawaja Abdul Aziz Mir and Abdur Rauf Wani for their bravery and valour.

CIVILIAN KILLED

On November 5, 2006, a person was severely thrashed under mysterious circumstances at Aram Mohalla Khanyar, down town of Srinagar. The person in moribund condition was rushed to the hospital where he succumbed to his injuries after going through the medical treatment for seven days. The deceased was identified as Hilal Ahmad Rangraze, 41, son of Mohammad Sidiq resident of Gari Masjid, Rangar Stop, Khanyar. The killing evoked massive demonstrations in the whole area and the protesters claimed that the police killed Hilal Ahmad. The protesters alleged that Hilal was severely beaten by the police with their gun butts. 

While talking to The Informative Missive, Mohammad Rafiq elder brother of Hilal said, “On November 5 at around 5 p.m. Hilal went out of the house to check the electric supply as the electricity had went off. Meanwhile a person boarded on a motorbike told Hilal to accompany him, which he rejected. But the person on the motorbike insisted and succeeded in taking Hilal on his motorbike. Some neighbors who were standing on the road witnessed it all. At around 5:30pm, we received a phone call and were told that Hilal is injured and is lying in the nearby neighborhood (Aram Mohalla). We were shocked and rushed to Aram Mohalla. When we reached to Aram Mohalla, police was present there and many other people. I saw my brother was lying in a moribund condition. We rushed him to the SMHS hospital from there to the Sheri Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences (SKIMS) Soura. One of the persons who accompanied me to take Hilal to the hospital told that the police cops thrashed Hilal and they were not allowing the residents to take him for the first aid. It was because of the critical injuries in his head that he was later shifted to the hospital. Hilal had received grave injuries as the blood oozed out of his mouth, nose and ears. He was hit in the head by some heavy object, injuring him seriously. Finally on December 12, he succumbed to the injuries and died fighting for his life over the last seven days of his treatment in hospital. 


He added, “We don’t know that why Hilal was killed? He was never involved in any unlawful activity. He was doing his shawl business and was dealing with the handicrafts in Bangalore and other states of India. Recently he had purchased the stock and was about to leave to Bangalore.  The residents of Aram Mohalla had a quarrel with the policemen who thrashed Hilal with their gun butts as the cops were not allowing them to take Hilal to the hospital. The residents alleged that the police cops were not belonging to the local police station of our area Khanyar. When we approached our concerned police station, Khanyar, the police inmates told that they don’t know anything relating to the incident and further said that the cops who raided Aram Mohalla had not intimated the police station Khanyar. According to some rumors and newspaper reports, it was stated that Hilal Ahmad was sitting in the house of Ghulam Ahmad Choula, one of our neighbours and in the meantime police raided the house, thrashed Hilal Ahmad. All these revelations still can’t provide us the justice”.

Parveena, wife of the deceased grieved, “We were married nine years ago and our marriage yielded two daughters Savaya (7) and Sumaya (3 ½). During these years I found nothing wrong in my husband and neither he was charged of any offence nor detained. Why was he killed? He was the lone bread earner of the family and was taking care of his ailing father, mother, two minor daughters and me. Now who will come for our support and who will look after his ailing parents and minor daughters. On one side, we were depressed with our beloved’s departure and on the other side we are being agonized by the allegations labeled on my husband. It appeared in some local dailies that my husband was busy in gambling at Choula’s house, which is false and baseless. There was a little hope for justice when our local Member of Legislative Assembly (MLA) directed police to investigate the matter and when police started investigation they came to know that the perpetrators belonged to the police station Hazratbal and Shergari. Unfortunately, when the complaint was filed against the perpetrators, the persons who witnessed the incident turned hostile, because of the fear of the threats they received for the policemen. Finally, the case got hushed up”.
APDP’s PSYCHOLOGICAL REHABILITATION PROGRAMME
Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) has been fighting and campaigning against the phenomenon of Enforced / Involuntary Disappearances (EID) in Jammu Kashmir since 1994. APDP has organized and is organizing many programs through which the phenomeon of EID in Kashmir has been recognized internationally. In order to express solidarity with the traumatized and victimized families of the disappeared and to strengthen their courage in the search for their disappeared ones, APDP conducted a psychological rehabilitation program for the families of the disappeared in Kashmir. The program was conducted in Srinagar, Kashmir by APDP in collaboration with the Asian Federation Against Involuntary Disappearances (AFAD), Department of Psychiatry and Medecins Sans Frontiers (MSF) from November 13 to November 15, 2006. 

The program was inaugurated on November 13th and the inaugural function was attended by the families of the victims of EID, Khurram Parvez – Programme Coordinator-CCS, Zaheeruddin- Spokesperson - APDP, Aileen Bacalso - Secretary General of AFAD, Jeniffer Pacursa - member of AFAD, Asif (AFAD country staff member), Dr. Arshid from the Department of Psychiatry and representatives of MSF. At first the participants were introduced to each other. Aileen gave the introduction of AFAD and its activities, Mr. Zaheeruddin stressed on the achievements and importance of APDP struggle, further representations were made by Dr. Arshid(Department of Psychiatry) and Ms. Tonka (MSF).

There were 23 people (family members of the disappeared) including 14 women who participated in the rehabilitation session. 

Their names are: -

1) Mogli Begum 2) Anwar Jaan 3) Shameema 4) Shubu 5) Bakhti 6) Shafiqa 7) Haseena 8)Ghulam Nabi 9) Mohammad Shafi Mir 10) Afroza 11) Tahira 12) Rafaqat 13) Manzoor 14) Mohammad Yasin 15) Bashir Ahmed Mir 16) Shaheena Guru 17) Heemal 18) Gulshan 19) Shabnam 20) Wali Khan 21) Mudasir 22) Ateeqa 23) Ali Mohammad 

Aileen talked about her work, how she has traveled far and wide and worked for disappeared people and has been working closely with many organizations for the cause in many different countries. Aileen apprised the participants how people in other countries have the same problem and how are they fighting against it. She also said that families of the disappeared across the world waiting for the adoption of the treaty that can be a solution to this universal problem of EID. If it’s adapted, it will protect the people from these custodial disappearances. So if this is adapted, it will be considered as an International Treaty. I hope this will prevent new disappearances from happening and will help in solving cases from the past. So if it is adapted and implemented in different countries, it will be the best gift for the disappeared families. Why an International Convention because of the fact that there are many other families of the disappeared in Asia, Latin America, and Philippines etc. The strength of our global movement lies in strengthening ourselves to conquer the barriers of unity and solidarity. We are all in the same pain, same struggle, and having the same hope to fight, for a fight in the world against disappearances.

After Aileen’s speech, the families of the disappeared narrated their ordeal to the counselors of MSF and the doctors from the Psychiatric department. The environment was heavy as every eye was laden with tears, and cries dominated the whole room. 


Ms. Tonka, heading MSF in Kashmir in her address said, “Thank you very much for telling your stories that was so painful. After such very hard incidents, many people suffer inside. These are many symptoms of tension. All of you have something in common, all of you came together, all of you took the initiative to come and talk. The stories you narrated, they were touching for me, for everyone in this room. In these incidents many ways of tackling this suffering has come from you, yourself. We will also talk about the possibilities of dealing with this trauma, stress and tension. Our counseling team will offer you all their advice later on. The workshop was undoubtedly a thought provoking experience and brought new insight into the resilience of the sufferers. While raising mental health awareness concerning psychosocial issues particularly the suffering they have gone through during their search of their loved ones and the uncertainty of their future, the participants realized the importance of their respective roles in their being support to their family and friends. It would be indeed worth to organize similar workshop for other families of the disappeared in Kashmir so that resilience and self-help among victims will prevail”. 


Counselors from MSF and the doctors from the department of Psychiatry gave some useful tips to the participants regarding stress and tensions faced by them during their trail.


Dr. Arshid from the department of psychiatry said, “Most of the people who participated in the workshop are stuck with trauma, their life starts and ends with traumatic event. Posttraumatic stress disorder is very common, and lifetime prevalence is as high as 80%. But in spite of the mental health causality, the present mental state is colored with resilience and resolve to find the loved ones. Religion seems to be the strongest de- stressing and coping agent. It is indeed remarkable to see the dignity and resilience of these ordinary human beings to the most appalling conditions of degradation. Transforming adversity into positive development and resulting into adversity-activated development is not a rarity in the group and holds hope for the future. Even though various psychosocial measures like helping in search to find will redeem the sense of justice other measures like workshops on psychological rehabilitation, linking these families to existing mental health faculties, forming support groups, providing legal assistance, networking will go a long way in mitigating the suffering of the families. But one single measure which should take priority over all other steps is economic rehabilitation of these families because destiny has robed them of the only bread earners in most cases complicating their trauma further depriving their children of normal childhood in form of schooling etc. The good beginning is half done, let us all resolve not to change our traumas and our societal traumas into vengeance but to justice and let us all strive to achieve that ultimate justice which fulfills the aspirations of all those who are entwined in the black hole of trauma”.

The families of the disappeared expressed their satisfaction about the programme and also demanded that further such events should be organized on regular basis.

Asif (AFAD Country Staff Member) presented the concluding remarks and said, “I thank the families of the disappeared, AFAD, MSF and doctors from the psychiatric department for all their efforts, it is the process, one of the many steps of the process, and it is a part of healing process. I express my gratitude to them for the support. This is a step and we will continue our struggle for true healing and for truth and justice”.

TWO PERSONS KILLED

DODA, November 5: Residents of Thatri in Doda district allege that the Special Operations Group (SOG) of police killed two young Kashmiri laborers in a fake encounter and then branded them as foreign militants. 

 
The SOG claims the duo was killed during a gunfight in Drat nallah of Fiksu village, six kilometers from Batote-Kishtwar Highway on the night of November 4. 

 
Thousands of residents of Thatri, Fiksu and its adjoining villages rejecting the SOG claim demonstrated against the police and the state government. The protesters said the SOG personnel in the morning on November 5 asked the villagers to bury the bodies of the slain youth. 

 
Muhammad Rafiq, a protester said, “The SOG men took along with them two villagers, Muhammad Shafi and Muhammad Iqbal and asked them to bury the two youth. But they found two identity cards from the clothes of the deceased youth and in the identity cards their names were Ghulam Muhammad son of Muhammad Jamal and Reyaz Ahmad Gujri son of Akthar Hussain of Kralpura, Kashmir.” 

 
However, SOG identified the duo as Muhammad Ahmad alias Abu Furkan and Muhammad Irfan alias Abu Abdullah of Rawalpindi Pakistan. 

 
The residents said the youth were wearing flip-flops; an unlikely piece of footwear a militant would wear while combating troops. They said the duo had torture marks. 

“We asked the SOG personnel what they recovered from the dead youth. They said no rifles were recovered from them, which is sufficient a proof for us to know what had happened to these youths,” said another villager. 

The protesters refused to bury the bodies of the youth. 

Senior police officer SSP Manohar Singh visited the place and ordered an inquiry.

 DRIVER KILLED 

BARAMULLA, November 10: Troops of 32 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) killed a driver in cold blood on November 10, alleged the villagers of Rawacha, Baramulla, which is approximately 60 kilometers from Srinagar.  The villagers said the Army’s claim that the driver was killed in a militant ambush was a “cock and bull story”. 

The fellow drivers of the deceased driver at Dangiwacha Sumo Taxi Stand fearing reprisal from the army said they would speak on condition of anonymity. They said the slain driver Bashir Ahmad Khan, 35, son of Ghulam Ahmad of Rawacha, a father of five kids, was asked by the troops of 32 RR at Dangiwacha Taxi Stand on November 10 evening to hire out his Sumo vehicle. They said he refused to ferry the troops in his vehicle and had a heated argument with them. However, he relented under pressure and drove the troops in his vehicle, which he had purchased only two weeks back, they said. In the evening, army handed over the body of the driver to his family. He had several bullet marks in the neck. Early Saturday November 11 morning, the army forced the villagers to bury the driver, the protesters said. 

Defence spokesman A. K. Mathur said the driver got killed “when militants ambushed the vehicle in Rawacha village,” the native village of the driver. 

The villagers said they heard two or three gunshots, and there was no gunfight between the army and militants, as claimed by the army. 

 
“Isn’t it surprising that only the driver got killed and all the soldiers escaped unscathed in the militant ambush as claimed by army? There are no bullet marks on the vehicle and only its screens are broken. They have killed him in cold-blood and they always weave cock and bull stories to justify murders,” said a villager, Muhammad Shaban. 

 
“I was anxious when he didn’t return till 8 in the evening. I though he might be on a long trip. I didn’t know my world has been shattered; who would feed my children,” said Shamima, wife of the driver. 

 
Thousands of people marched from Rawacha to Dangiwacha shouting slogans against the army and the state government. 

 
“How long would the troops kill us? We will not tolerate all this,” said Fayaz, a protester. “He was killed in cold-blood because he told them on their faces that he would not hire out his car.” 

Taking a dig at Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad, Hafiza, 37, a housewife said, “Azad said custodial killings would not be tolerated and I thought no one will be killed in custody like my brother who was killed by the army in custody; please tell Azad to stop killing of innocent Kashmiris.” 

Senior Superintendent of Police, Baramulla Viplav Kumar told, “The driver was killed in ambush, but still we have started investigation into the incident. The army had hired the Sumo for operational purpose. While on their way militants fired at the vehicle hitting the driver. He lost control over the vehicle and skidded off the road, and the vehicle turned on its side.” 

Deputy Commissioner Baramulla Baseer Khan said, “The Sub-Divisional Magistrate Sopore would probe the incident and submit his report in 20 days.”

UNENDING TRAUMA

BANIHAL, November 20: Crime Branch’s investigating the case of an alleged custodial killing case of a Banihal youth is yet to complete and hand over its investigations back to the police authorities despite the lapse of six years of period in the process of the investigation. 

Abdul Rashid Wani the old aged father of the deceased youth, whose son Ayaz Ahmad Wani was killed in Ramban police custody eleven years back is still hopeful with the judiciary and law of the land. 

Ayaz Ahmad Wani (22) son of Abdul Rashid Wani resident of village Bankoot tehsil Banihal in Doda district was picked up by the Banihal police on 3rd November 1995. 

The 22-year-old youth was severely tortured in police station Ramban where from he was shifted to Government Medical Jammu on 9th November.

The Banihal youth on November 10, 1995 succumbed to injuries at Government Medical College (GMC) Jammu, while as FIR in this case was registered on July 18, 1998 and the case was handed over to Crime Branch in 2000 for final investigations, but after the long gap of six years the investigation is still pending with the Crime Branch department. 

Despite the lapse of eleven years of the custodial killing of his son the old aged father and brothers and mother of the deceased are still hopeful with the judiciary and the police department. 

The father of Ayaz Ahmad Wani narrating the details said, “It was fateful day of November 3, 1995 when my son was picked up by then Station House Officer (SHO) Banihal Sonaullah Naik accompanied by three police persons from Banihal town when we both were on way to home after purchasing some items from the market and said that the then Additional Superintendent of Police (ASP) Ramban Shafqat Wattali had called his son for the selection in police department as constable for which he had applied a few months back. When Ayaz did not returned back to home till late evening I contacted Banihal police, where I was informed that my son was called by ASP Ramban and with hectic efforts Ayaz was traced on November 5th in police station Ramban in a bad condition and he was not allowed to meet his family there in police station Ramban. Badly tortured Ayaz was shifted to sub-district hospital Ramban on November 8 on the advice of the doctors who attended him in police custody between 3rd and 7th November. When Ayaz was admitted in Ramban hospital, he was bleeding profusely from the mouth due to the ruthless beating and third degree torture in police lock up by the SHO Banihal who happened to be the resident of the same area.  On seeing the condition of dying Ayaz at Ramban hospital, the then Block Medical Officer (BMO) Ramban Dr Ghulam Mohideen, Dr Sindoor Singh and other doctors attending upon him advised the police to shift Ayaz to GMC Jammu without any delay and finally Ayaz was shifted to GMC Jammu in police custody on November 9 evening in bad condition, where he succumb to his internal and external injuries at 4.30 pm. The torture marks on the body of my innocent son were visible on his arms, hands, back and the private parts. All the body parts of Ayaz were swelled as he was subjected to third degree torture by the police”. 

The autopsy conducted on the dead body by the board of the doctors of GMC reveals that both the kidneys, heart and stomach of the deceased were defunct and the fingers, wrist and feet were broken. 

The father of the deceased approached Supreme Court (SC) of India and National Human Rights Commission NHRC for justice and punishment to the persons involved in the alleged custodial killing case of his son. 

 The apex court vide his letter no9339/SC/PIL dated 20-03-1996 directed Director General of Police Jammu and Kashmir to conduct enquiry into the circumstances of the death of Ayaz Ahmad Wani. 

The state police authorities ordered an enquiry and the enquiry was conducted by the then SP Ramban R.R.  Swan well known for his honesty, the report of the investigation was submitted to police higher ups after the transfer of R.R. Swan from police district Ramban. 

The father of the deceased alleged that his son was lodged in police station Ramban with out any judicial remand and the then Tehsildar Banihal Surjeet Singh Bali issued an alleged fraud remand after the death of the Ayaz.

An application in this regard was submitted to the then Divisional Commissioner Jammu vide receipt no.642 dated 2-2-1996   

Ayaz’s father also approached National Human Rights Commission (NHRC) of India to seek justice.

A letter in this connection vide no9/96/9 dated 27-3-1996 was issued to the then chief secretary of Jammu and Kashmir to conduct an enquiry in the killing of innocent youth. 

Finally apex court advised the father of deceased to file a writ petition in the high court, which was lodged vide no W/P 8596 dated 27-01-1996 in high court Jammu. 

 
In the light of investigations from different quarters FIR was lodged against culprits allegedly involved in the case vide FIR no 65/98 under section302 /34RPC on 18-07-19998 after three years of the alleged custodial killing. 

The case was handed over to the then Inspector General (IG) crime R.V. Raju who assigned the case to the Satish Khandria, officer on special duty (OSD) for further investigations. The case is still with crime branch over past six years without any progress. 

 
The tired father said that he is very hopeful to seek the justice, but fears that the influence and the money power of the involved police persons is delaying the investigations of the case. 

Abdul Rashid further said, “The culprits several time approached me with compromise offers and are still doing so, but I will not surrender until I will get justice. If the investigating agencies failed to provide justice, I will approach the court of justice for CBI investigation of the case”.   

The police in its recorded statements with investigating agencies claimed that the deceased youth was involved in a grenade attack on the CRPF camp in Banihal town in which one CRPF personal was killed and some were injured and in the retaliation CRPF persons shot dead two persons including a tea stall owner and a class 9th student in Oct 1995, but the family of the deceased rejected the police claim and said that the deceased was not present in the area when the incident occurred. 

CUSTODIAL TORTURE

Muhammad Mahfouz, son of Tasaduq Hussain of Darhal Rajouri alleged that his uncle Ghulam Qadir Malik son of Hadiyatullah was brutally tortured by police. 

Mahfouz said, “On November 1, 2006 the police personnel of Darhal police station lifted Ghulam Qadir. During custody he has been brutally tortured and third degree was applied on him. During torture his private parts were cut with a sharp weapon. Even sticks were inserted in his private parts leading to serious complications. On his release Ghulam Qadir was then admitted to the Government Medical College Jammu. 

 
Mahfouz approached the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) and SHRC while taking cognizance of the case directed the Director General of Police (DGP) and the Principal of the Medical College to present their reports to the commission. 


On November 26, Indian troops raided the house of Mohammed Khata Gujri at Mazhama, Magam, Budgam and allegedly tortured his son Manzoor Ahmad and ransacked his house. People staged massive demonstration against the troops and demanded action against the guilty. 
FOUR OF FAMILY KILLED

JAMMU, November 5: Suspected militants gunned down four members of a family including three women in their house at Maglogi, Dalwa in Gool area of Ramban police district.

 
A group of four suspected militants struck in the house of Ahad Bhat at Maglogi near Dalwa, about eight kilometers from Gool around 10.30 pm on November 4 and started molesting two girls including Ahad’s 25 year old daughter Mobina.

 
Ahad Bhat and his wife besides the two girls resisted the attempt from the militants, who reportedly wanted to kidnap Mobina for forcibly holding her nikaah (marriage) with a Hizbul Mujahideen militant, official source said.

 
Faced with stiff resistance from the family, the militants opened firing on the house inmates killing all four of them on spot.

 
Police Officer SSP Ramban Basant Rath said Ahad Bhat had been receiving letters from Hizbul Mujahideen ultras to hold nikaah of Mobina with Zafar Ahmed, an area commander of the outfit. Ahad Bhat had flatly refused to marry her daughter to a militant.

 
Besides 55-year-old Ahad Bhat and 25-year-old Mobina, Ahad’s 50-year-old wife Fatima Begum and a niece Shaida, 30, daughter of Abdul Samad were killed in the firing. The militants managed to escape.

TEENAGERS LURED & COERCED FOR FAKE SURRENDER 

BARAMULLA, November 14: Five teenagers detained at Baramulla police station on Tuesday November 14 said they were offered a job and rupees 2 lakhs each if they agreed to confess before media that they were militants and are surrendering before Army. 

However, the information reached to the media before time and the fake surrender drama was unfolded. 

The five teenagers were identified as Ashiq Hussain, 18, son of Ghulam Muhammad of Kralhar, Khwaja Bagh, Baramulla; Altaf Ahmad Akhoon, 19, son of Ali Muhammad Akhoon of Khanpora; Nadeem Ahmed Bhat, 16, son of Barkat Ali Bhat of Khanpora Baramulla; Waseem Ahmed Akhoon, 17, son of Ghulam Ahmed Akhoon of Khanpora; and Bashir Ahmed Mir, 16, son of Wali Muhammad Mir of Singhpora Kalan Baramulla, and they were detained at Baramulla Police station on November 14. 

One of the teenagers Ashiq Hussain said, “A soldier of Territorial Army, Qadeer Khan became friendly with me last month. One day he told I could get a job and rupees two lakhs under a job scheme. He said even my friends can avail the scheme. I was tempted and discussed it with my friends. Qadeer Khan took me and my friend Altaf to the army camp at Chahal and introduced us to Captain AK Singh of 14 Rajput Rifles. Captain Singh assured us that we would be given a job and rupees two Lakhs in cash, but he didn’t tell us what the job was. He said the job scheme is sponsored by central government especially for Kashmiri youth. After the Captain’s assurance we left the camp and decided to opt for it. I and my four friends went to Baramulla Bus Stand on November 8, where a Tata Sumo was waiting for us. Singh and Khan were already sitting in the Sumo, and we boarded it. As the vehicle left the stand, two army escort vehicles followed us. We were taken to Chahal army camp and from there we were taken to Uri Brigade. A high ranked army official met us there. We were shocked when the officials told us that we would have to hold AK-47 riffles in our hands and admit before the media that we are militants and have surrendered before the Army. We refused to participate in this drama, and our refusal infuriated the army officials. They ordered soldiers to take two of our friends Nadeem and Waseem away, and shoot them. Nadeem was tortured before our eyes but we didn’t succumb to pressure and refused to confess. Later in the evening the army personnel handed us over to Deputy Superintendent of Police (DSP) Uri telling him the army caught us near the LoC, while we were trying to cross over to Pakistan. From Uri we were shifted to Baramulla”. 

 
Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Baramulla, Viplav Kumar and Defence Spokesman AK Mathur expressed ignorance and remained tightlipped. “It is news for me,” Mathur told. 

However, on November 15, SSP Viplav said, “We have called Qadeer Khan for questioning and are ascertaining the facts. Investigations are on.” 

Ghulam Ahmed Akhoon, father of Waseem Ahmed (who is one of the five teenagers) said, “Earlier we used to hear about such incidents and be amazed. I had never thought my son would also become a victim one day. I am thankful to Allah, as my son is still alive.”

5 KILLED IN A BOMB BLAST

PULWAMA, November 10: Four members of a family were among five people killed and nearly 40 wounded in a grenade explosion outside a mosque in Tahab village of south Kashmir’s Pulwama district on Friday November 10. The injured include a prominent cleric. 

Officials said that the bomb blast took place at 1.10 pm outside the Jamia Masjid Tahab, about 40 kilometers from Srinagar. Many locals and some reports said the grenade thrower was overpowered by the residents and handed over to police, but the police and civil administration have denied the reports. 

The blast occurred when Moulana Abdur Rashid Dawoodi, the patron of Sout-ul-Awllia (Voice of Allah’s friends) was about to enter the mosque for the Friday congregation, said witnesses. 

They said the grenade exploded at the main gate of the mosque, injuring Dawoodi and his followers.    

Three persons died on the spot while two more succumbed to their injuries at hospitals in Pulwama and Srinagar. 

The deceased were identified as Nissar Ahmad Ganie, 18, s/o Ghulam Muhammad Ganie, Salima, 13, d/o Abdul Aziz Shah, Umar Maqbool, 12 s/o Muhammad Maqbool, Sheeraza, 18, d/o Gulzar Ahmad Ganie, and Bisma Jan, 11, d/o Bashir Ahmad. 

The condition of many injured in the SMHS Hospital and SKIMS Srinagar was said to be critical. 

A police spokesman claimed that the militants of Hizbul Mujahideen outfit were responsible for the blast. 

Some reports said that local residents, who were on way to the mosque for Friday prayers spotted the grenade thrower and chased him and captured him at a distance from the mosque. The grenade thrower, whose identity was not known, was handed over to police, said the reports. But the officials said, “These reports are just rumours.” 

However on November 11, a man made a confession before press reporters in an army camp that he threw grenade at people who were going to a mosque in Tahab village of Pulwama for prayers on Friday November 10, killing five people and wounding 25 others. 

 
Brigadier G S Katoch of 70 Infantry Brigade addressed a press conference at army’s 55 RR camp at Pulwama shortly after soldiers presented the accused, Ghulam Nabi Mir, 22, before reporters in the same camp. The Brigadier said the accused was a laborer and the local people handed him over to army on Friday night. 

Brigadier G.S. Katoch said, “Ghulam Nabi Mir, 22, Ghulam Mohiuddin Mir of Litter Pulwama is a laborer and is a nephew of the battalion commander of Hizb-ul-Mujahideen, Abdul Rasheed Ganie alias Ashfaq. Mir is working as an upper ground worker of the Hizb and involvement of the outfit in the blast has been established.” 

However, the accused told the reporters, “Ashfaq (his uncle and Hizb commander) didn’t give me the grenade. Gulzar Ahmed Mir alias Nika of Chaudary Bagh Litter gave me Rs. 1000 and the grenade, and asked me to target Moulana Dawoodi.” The accused told reporters he regretted what he did and he was not expecting such a huge loss of lives. Mir said people captured him after he threw the grenade. “I couldn’t run away as people pounced on me after the explosion; I am not a trained militant and I threw the grenade for the first time in my life,” said Mir. 

 
He said the mob had thrashed him severely and tried to set him ablaze, but a local Subedar of Territorial Army, Ishfaq Ahmad, persuaded the angry people to hand him over to army. The accused showed the bruise and burn marks on his face to the reporters. 

Deputy Inspector General of Police South Kashmir range, Hemant Kumar Lohia, told, “Army has handed over the accused to police and after providing him medical treatment we would carry forward the investigations. It seems he is the member of a sleeping module of Hizb-ul-Mujahideen.” 

However, a statement issued jointly by some residents of Tahab claims that Ghulam Nabi Mir, accused of hurling the November 10 grenade in the village, was handed over by them to the army jointly with a consensus about the handover and have also demanded an impartial probe into the incident. 

  
The statement said to be issued after a meeting of the villagers states, "The capture of the mischievous element that carried out the attack was a joint effort and his handover is not the decision of a single person but has been done with consensus." 

 
The statement, however, fails to explain why Mir was handed over to Rashtriya Rifles and not police or civil administration that had approached the villagers for the handover of the suspect. 

This is in contradiction to Brigadier G S Katoch's statement that SSP Pulwama was accompanying him when Mir was handed over to him by the local people. 

Terming the reports appearing in different sections of media as controversial, the statement signed by many villagers has raised a serious question about the claims of 55 Rashtriya Rifles that militant organisation Hizb-ul-Mujahideen was behind the attack. 

"The controversial reports that have appeared in different newspapers are condemned and an impartial enquiry into the incident is demanded," the statements reads adding that the villagers has decided to cooperate in full with any such commission to find out the truth. A villager said that the villagers are in know of some more facts about the motives behind the attack and that is why the statement has been issued.

MIAN QAYOOM ESCAPES LIFE BID

SRINAGAR, November 22: Kashmir High Court Bar Association president and senior counsel Mian Abdul Qayoom had a narrow escape on Wednesday November 22 when a grenade was tossed towards his vehicle near Barzulla in the civil lines area of the Srinagar city.

The attack took place at 5:15 pm when Mian Qayoom was about to enter his house. The grenade exploded few meters away from his vehicle and he escaped unhurt. Qayoom, who was detained under the Public Safety Act for two years in 1990 and also shot at and injured by unidentified gunmen in 1995, said the attackers were “the people who obviously will benefit from my death.” 

 
“I am surprised because a CRPF camp is located just near my house, besides a top police official resides in the locality, and still they didn’t inform the police about the attack,” Qayoom wondered. 

 The lawyers decided to boycott the courts on Thursday November 23. Various political and religious organizations have expressed deep shock and anguish over the grenade attack on Qayoom.

MAJID DAR'S WIFE SHOT AT

SRINAGAR, November 28: Unidentified gunmen shot at and seriously wounded Dr Shameema Badroo, wife of slain militant leader Abdul Majid Dar, at her Lalnagar-Channapora residence on November 28 evening. 

 
Reports said Dr Shameema was inside her house when the incident occurred. The gunmen broke the windowpane and opened fire towards her from outside. 

 
She received two bullets in her abdomen. Bleeding profusely she was shifted to SMHS hospital. Senior police officials rushed to the spot. 

 
Dr Shameema is living in the house with her two children. Her husband Abdul Majid Dar was killed by unidentified gunmen at his ancestral house at Sopore some years back. Prior to his killing Dar was expelled from Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) following serious differences with his supreme commander Syed Sallah-u-Din. 

 
Dar had announced a unilateral ceasefire in 2000, which was first endorsed by Sallah-u-Din and later withdrawn. The serious differences led to HM expelling Dar. Dr Shamim's house at Channapora was torched by some unidentified persons in past. Later she got a new house. Besides the pro-freedom political parties, Hizbul Mujahideen also condemned the attack on Dr. Shameema Badroo.

GOVERNMENT LIED ON RELEASE OF 11 DETAINEES

Chief Secretary says ‘I thought they were released’

SRINAGAR, November 4: Jammu and Kashmir government has not released 11 detainees who it announced would be freed last month. 

 
The cases of the 11 detainees were screened by the government’s screening committee and later it was announced they would be set free on the eve of Eid-ul-Fitr. 

But 10 days after the holy festival, the detainees are yet to be released, sources in the Home Department told.

“The file has been sent to Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad for his approval but so far there has been no response,” they added. 

Some of the detainees are: Muhammad Altaf Mir of Shopian, Farooq Ahmad Banday of Beerwah, Manzoor Ahmad Ganai of Bandipora, Gulzar Ahmad of Islamabad, Irfan Ahmad Mir of Varmul, Abdul Majeed of Budgam, Muhammad Maqbool Wagay of Kulgam, Basheer Ahmad Bhat of Chadura and Bashir Ahmad Hajam of Kulgam. 

Chief Secretary C Phunsog expressed surprise when told that the detainees have not been released. “I thought they were released. You can check it with the DGP (Director General of Police),” he said. 

Mian Abdul Qayoom, senior counsel and president of Kashmir High Court Bar Association said the screening committees, which are in the district and the state level, were formed by the government to “pass judgments on recommendation of advisory committees set up under the Public Safety Act or High Court judgments which set aside PSA detentions.” 

He said the screening committees were responsible for the re-detention of detainees. “Whenever PSA of a detainee is quashed by the High Court, the detainees are not released because screening committees don’t want their release,” he said. 

Mir Shafqat Hussain, a lawyer who has pleaded cases of some of the detainees on the list said the High Court has already quashed detention of some of the detainees. “Now the screening committee has ordered their release, its strange why government has not released them,” he said. 

Meanwhile, relatives of the 11 detainees said, “We met senior official in the Secretariat but they said approval of release of their wards has not been given so far.”

KASHMIRI MODEL IN BANGLADESH, LANGUISHING IN DELHI’S TIHAR JAIL

SRINAGAR, November 7: Picking up the modeling as part-time profession and subsequently earn a name in the field proved not less than a dreadful life for 29-year–old Kashmiri youth, who is languishing in Delhi notorious jail Tihar. His family made all out efforts in getting him free but without any success. 


The story of this 29-year-old, Tariq Ahmad reveals there is no place safe for Kashmiris. His family believes that he might be targeted because of being a Kashmiri, who earns a good name in modeling fraternity in Bangladesh.   


Almost decade ago he moved to Bangladesh to promote his business of handicrafts. Meanwhile, he takes part in modeling shows and owing to his hard work he became one of the famous models of this country.


His father Gazi Ghulam Nabi Kashmiri, a resident of Srinagar’s posh Nigeen area while talking to The Informative Missive said, “My son Tariq Ahmad, 27, was working in Bangladesh for past one decade. Besides doing business, he was also engaged in modeling there. In 2003, he was selected “Mr. Dhaka”. Bangladesh’s Rapid Action Force took Tariq into custody on September 15, 2006 on the basis of a complaint that he possesses illegal documents”.


He further said, “Till today we are unable to comprehend what was the exact reason for which he was arrested by the Bangladeshi police. He was never involved in any kind of activity that breached any country’s law. Bangladeshi police later handed him over to Delhi police who took him into the remand for several days and shifted him to Tihar jail”. 

 
Union Minister for Water Resources Professor Saifuddin Soz was in Dhaka when the incident took place. Professor Soz, according to Tariq’s father, intervened into the matter. And following Soz’s intervention initially, Tariq was taken into police remand for six days. Later, Delhi Police again sought police remand for him. A court allowed the police to conduct his questioning. When Tariq was again brought before the Tis Hazari Court on November 6 2006, the concerned magistrate was not present and another magistrate remanded him for more days”.


The family members of the model expressed their apprehension, “It is an easy job for Delhi authorities to frame any Kashmiri in a militancy related offence. They can also frame Tariq in this case”.  

KILLING OF MUSLIM LEAGUE ACTIVISTS 

FAMILY INTIMIDATED – A FOLLOW UP

November 5: One of the relatives of the deceased Muslim League activist who was allegedly killed by the Border Security Forces (BSF) in a fake encounter along with another activist on September 7 called up the office of Public Commission on Human Rights (PCHR) and alleged harassment at the hands of the army. Besides threats from the army, three persons were also arrested.  


Abdul Rashid Zargar told The Informative Missive,  “A contingent army on direction of its Commanding Officer (CO) of 25 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) posted at Draba, Surankote laid a siege on November 5, around 7:00 pm at the house of Mushtaq Ahmad Zargar (who was killed in fake encounter) and searched thoroughly the entire house but found nothing objectionable. The siege was solely intended to intimidate and harass the family to withdraw the case filed in the J&K High Court against the killing of two Muslim League activists by the forces. The siege continued till 8:00 am next morning. The army before leaving took along three persons Habib Joo, 75, (fathering-law of Mushtaq), Nazir Din (brother in-law of Mushtaq) and Zahoor Din (cousin of Mushtaq) on the pretext of ‘recovery’ of a magazine and few bullets from the lawn of the house, which they have planted (under the soil) during night only to implicate the arrested persons and forced the family to withdraw the case. The army is frequently harassing Mushtaq’s brother Farooq Ahmad, a shopkeeper”.


Abdul Rashid further said, “We approached the concerned Station House Officer (SHO) and recounted the whole ordeal.  SHO assured that he will investigate and told us to give him some time”.


The family is extremely perturbed and is apprehensive over the welfare of the arrested persons. 

14 YEARS ON, POOR WOMAN FIGHTS FOR HER MISSING SON

SRINAGAR, November 22: It has been a long legal battle in search of her disappeared son, but 14 years down the line, Zaitoon Begum, 50, refuses to give up. 

 
Her ordeal began on January 26, 1992, when the Dogra Regiment of Army took her son Nazir Ahmad Khan, 23 into custody along with his two neighbors Abdul Majid Khan and Muhammad Ayoub Khan from Gujjarpatti village of Bandipora. 
 
Later the two neighbors were released, but Army straightway denied the arrest of Nazir. Though shocked by the denial, Zaitoon didn’t give up. She went to the camp many a time. The repeated refusal of the Army forced her to move to the High Court. She filed a petition through her lawyer BA Tak in the court to seek whereabouts of her son. 

“She is very poor and her husband has paralysis but she is a brave mother,” Tak said. “Years of struggle have not disillusioned her and she continues her fight for justice. She was harassed but nothing stopped her.” 

On November 1, 1994 the court directed the District and Sessions Judge Baramulla to hold an enquiry in her case. 
The court conducted inquiry and found that Nazir Ahmad was really arrested by SD Singh and RP Singh, officials of the Dogra Regiment, and recommended to the concerned police station to register an FIR under section 302 of RPC against them. The police followed the court directions. 

Last week, Zaitoon along with her six children was in Srinagar in connection with the case in the High Court. “I am ailing and that is why I have brought my children here to show them where to pursue the case and whom to approach in case of my death,” Zaitoon said. 

HUSBAND HIT BY SHELL, SON-IN LAW DISAPPEARS

November 27: Raja Bibi, 65, doesn’t have a calendar. She doesn’t know the day on which a mortar shell hit her husband and her son-in-law subjected to custodial disappearance by the soldiers in Riyala village of Karnah in Kupwara district. 

 
“We don’t have calendars in our village, we measure passage of time with changing seasons” Bibi says. “Many years ago, during spring season, her husband Fazaludin Gujjar was hit by a shell, when Indian and Pakistani troops regularly exchanged fire at the Line of Control. 

 
Bibi had only one daughter, Roshan Jan. After her husband’s death she feared she would be lonely if she married her daughter off, but she had to marry her. “I decided I would marry her off to one who would be willing to live with us,” she said. 

 
And “one summer”, she married off Roshan Jan to Kamaldin Chechi, who agreed to live in Bibi’s house.

 
“I thought Kamaldin would solve my problems and I would die a contented person as he would take care of my only child, but only some five or six months after their marriage army soldiers raided our house and took Kamaldin along. Since then he hasn’t returned,” said Bibi.

 
Bibi says that she visited all the army bunkers located in Karnah and other adjoining areas to ascertain about the whereabouts of her son- in-law but her search proved futile. “Army denied arresting him; they picked him up before my eyes,” she said. 

 
“I am not worried about myself, I have lived my life, but what will happen to my daughter after I die. Till today I don’t know whether my son-in-law is alive or dead. My daughter continues to wait for her groom,” Bibi said. 

ARMY NOT RESPONDING: IGP TELLS SHRC

SRINAGAR, November 6: On June 21, 2002 Manzoor Ahmad Wani, a 25-year-old driver was driving a passenger bus when soldiers stopped him near a camp in Tragpora village of Baramulla district. The soldiers brought Wani down and dragged him towards their camp. Wani’s mother Bakhti Begum, 60, was in the same bus. She fell at the feet of soldiers pleading for his release. 

 
Pssengers waited for two hours but Wani didn’t come out of the camp. Army shooed them away. Bakhti waited till night. Wani never returned; he disappeared, like thousands of Kashmiri men in the past. 

 
Wani had been married only 18 days before his disappearance in the army custody. His bride, Shaista, 25, says, “On that day I insisted him to wear a new dress. Since then, I am waiting for his return.” 

 
Recounting the moment Bakhti says, “I can’t forget his cries ‘Mummy mei bachav (mother save me) when Major Bhattacharya and two government gunmen Jehangir and Qayoom dragged him inside the camp.” 

“Army told us to leave and promised they would release Manzoor in the evening. We waited for two hours,” says Mukhtar Ahmad, an eyewitness, who was traveling in the same bus. 

 
After Wani’s enforced custodial disappearance, Bakhti knocked doors of politicians, army officers, and police top brass. 
 
“I got assurances and false sympathies, not my son,” Bakhti says, “In fact I used to visit that damned camp everyday after they took him away. They would ask me to come next day and I would go there the next day. For nearly six months I regularly visited the camp and pleaded them to release him.” 

 
For six months Bakhti struggled to persuade police to file a case against the army. She said the then Minister of State for Home Abdur Rahman Veeri parried her pleas with “fresh assurances” each day. “He scolded me one day and said why you are visiting my office daily; I have talked with the Corps Commander, your son would reach home soon. I was so happy, and that night when dogs howled during the night I opened the doors thinking Manzoor was coming home. But, Veeri had deceived me.” 

 
Bakhti said she requested Veeri to direct the police to register FIR against the Major and the two government gunmen but “he didn’t.” 

 
Finally her plight melted when then Additional Superintendent of Police Baramulla ordered police to register FIR against Major Bhattacharya and the two accused government gunmen. 

 
Police is yet to move beyond filing the case against the 28 Rashtriya Rifles of the army, the accused party. Meanwhile, militants killed one of the accused government gunmen Jehangir. The other is still working for army. 

“I don’t want their money. If they have killed him my son they should give me his body,” says Bakhti. 

On Bakhti’s complaint the chairman of State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) directed the Inspector General of Police Kashmir to submit a report about what police has done in this case. 

 
Bakhti showed a copy of the IGP’s reply to SHRC chairman. It says, “Despite repeated reminders Army is not responding and the complaint filed by the Bakhti is absolutely right.” 

 
“I don’t need money, I want body of my son, a groom,” said Bakhti.

KASHMIRIS AT THE RECEIVING END IN DELHI

NEW DELHI, November 5: Habituated to occasional arrests and intense grilling at the hands of the Delhi police, Kashmiris especially the youngsters working with various multinational companies in Delhi are trying to adjust themselves to the changing circumstances. 

 
They say that apprehensive eyes, inhospitable shrugging and skepticism is what greets them, once they are identified as residents of Jammu and Kashmir, more so for those coming from Kashmir valley. 

"Harassment at the hands of Delhi Police is a routine affair, they can arrest us anytime and we have no right to inquire about the rationale of our arrest", said Naveed Ahmed, working as an Engineer with a software company. Narrating an incident, Naveed said, "My cousin Maroof had come from Kupwara. On our way to Ansari Nagar; we were stopped by a Delhi police van. Both of us were asked to get down. We obliged. One of the policemen asked us for the documents of the vehicle while the other one instructed us to show the identity cards (I-cards). 

 
We showed them our I-cards as well as the documents of the vehicle. After this, a strange question scared stiff both of us. Prove that I-cards as well as the documents of the vehicle are yours, the policeman asked. We were taken aback. I told them that my father is an IPS officer at Jammu. This worked and their pitch changed. They told us to return back to Kashmir valley stating that we were not safe here". 

 
Naveed further says that his fair complexion and Kashmiri accent are a problem for him. "I joined a Tamil speaking course at a local institute in order to modify my accent but that too did not work," said Naveed.

Sharing his experience, Younis Banday a resident of village Dialgam in district Anantnag, who is working as a Loan Manager in a leading bank said, "I switch off my mobile as soon as I come to know that something has happened. I am the only son of my parents. I have five sisters and four of them are to be married. I send 70 percent of my salary to my home. If something happens to me who would take care of my family". 

 
Younis says that he has shifted his house seven times in the last three years (2002-2005). "I stayed in a flat at Daula Kaun for two years continuously. My landlords were very happy with me. Their children used to get tuitions from me. But last year in the month of January, they told me to vacate their house. When I asked for the reasons, they said that they do not want any kind of psychological stress at the hands of the Delhi Police. After roaming from one place to the other, finally I managed a flat at Malviya Nagar," said Younis. 

 
Younis says that for a Kashmiri, getting a residential accommodation at Delhi is not an easy job. Talking about the formalities for getting a flat on rent, a call centre employee from Chotta Bazaar in Srinagar Fahad Bashir shares, "Getting even a dingy undersized room for living is not possible for a Muslim youth, coming from Kashmir valley and if you get,, police verification is essential, followed by the regular visit of various agencies who forcibly enter into your house and without even proving their identity start asking you questions." 

 
He adds, "The harassment is going on unabated, even though Chief Minister claims of having requested various state governments for taking effective measures to prevent harassment of Kashmiris at the hands of various security and intelligence agencies". 

 
"The statement of Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad is a mere publicity stunt. We are working here and it is known to us how we are humiliated on every other day", states Nadeem Kanji, a resident of Boniyar in Uri, presently working with HCL at New Delhi.

"People were not as hostile as they are now towards us; this is just because of the fear psychosis created by various security and intelligence agencies against us" added Kanji.

SHRC INDICTS ARMY’S 7 RR IN GANG RAPE

PULLS UP POLICE FOR AMBIGUITY IN REPORT

SRINAGAR, November 6: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has indicted soldiers of Army’s 7 Rashtriya Rifles for gang rape of a woman of south Kashmir, and recommended the case for prosecution before court of law and compensation of Rs 75,000 to the victim. 

 
The commission took Suo Moto cognizance of the gang rape of Parveen wife of Irshad Ahmad Khan of Mattan on the intervening night of October 11, 2004. During the proceedings of the case, the commission received a letter from the acting program director of Amnesty International, Catherine Baber on December 10, 2004, making a reference of the gang rape.

 
To ascertain the facts, the commission sought a report from Inspector General of Kashmir (IGP) Kashmir. 
In its report, IGP informed the commission that a case FIR no 534/2004 under FIR under section 342, 376 RPC was registered in Police Station Islamabad and investigation was taken up. 

 
“During investigation complainant victim was medically examined and report of this effect has been obtained. Police has visited the scene of occurrence prepared site plan, seized the clothes of victim which were used at the time of occurrence and the same were dispatched to Director FSL, Srinagar for expert opinion,” the IGP said in the report. 

“Statements of eyewitnesses recorded as per evidences collected during the course of investigation prima facie offences under section 376, 342, 450, are established against the army personnel as expert opinion from FSL is also obtained. The investigation of the case is in progress, only identification of accused army personnel camp Panchtalthan is yet to be ascertained. In this connection, matter has been taken up with the commanding officer 7 RR for providing nominal roll of the army personnel,” the report said, adding but till date the concerned unit has not forwarded requisite nominal roll to concerned SHO. 

 
Taking into consideration the report, member of the commission Habibullah Bhat in his judgement states, “The subject matter at the hand is therefore clear with respect to gang rape by 7 RR during the intervening night of 11, 2004 upon the victim.” 

 
Coming down heavily upon police, the member observed in the judgement “that the report of IGP is not only disturbing but also smacks of serious gulf in coordination and cooperation with local police.”

 
The commission recommended to the government to give Rs 75,000 and the case should be furnished for prosecution before the court of law. 

 
The commission submitted the recommendation to Chief Secretary for ensuring compliance. 

SHRC INDICTS BSF, RR

SRINAGAR, November 7: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has indicted the security forces for the custodial deaths of two youths in 1993 and 2003.

It has recommended Government jobs and ex-gratia of Rs 2 lakh to the next of kin of Gowhar Amin Bahadur of Batmaloo in Srinagar who died allegedly in Border Security Force (BSF) custody in 1993, and Tahir Hussain of Tujjar Sharief in Sopore who was allegedly killed after his arrest in 2003.

 
Bahadur’s wife Munawara Sultan filed a complaint with SHRC on October 21, 2000, that her husband was killed by soldiers of BSF’s 4th battalion on April 8, 1993 after his arrest in retaliation to a militant attack in the area.

The SHRC in its judgment said the unfortunate part of the case was the BSF party “has not made themselves accountable before investigation of the case".

 
It said the case record "speaks volumes in support of this presumption that death has taken place in BSF custody" during a cordon-and-search operation.

It said the widow, a young girl, had a child and an old father and deserved to be paid Rs 2 lakh and "compassionate appointment" in Class IV service.

 
Indicting soldiers of the 22 Rashtriya Rifles for killing Hussain, it directed the police to file a ‘challan’ against an officer and recommended Rs 2 lakh ex-gratia and a Government job to his next of kin.

The victim’s family lodged a complaint with the SHRC stating that Tahir was arrested by Major Rajendra Singh of 22 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) in September 2003 and later his body was handed over to them. 

HOSTEL OCCUPIED BY SECURITY FORCES

JAMMU, November 8: In Chief Ministers Ghulam Nabi Azad's constituency Bhaderwah, hostel meant for boys coming to Degree College Bhaderwah from rural areas continues to be occupied by the security forces. The security forces occupied the Boys hostel in the year 1992. College authorities say that security forces started with the hostel and gradually occupied one complete portion of the college.


"Hostel could have accommodated around 160 students thereby catering to the needs of the students coming from rural areas, but because of the non-serious attitude higher authorities, these students are being made to toil”, said one of the senior lecturers in the college on the condition of anonymity. 

 
When contacted, Director Colleges Nizamuddin Wani citing various reasons said that security forces could not be removed immediately from the boy's hostel. "State government is looking into the matter but it is not possible to ask the security forces to vacate the Hostel immediately", said Wani.

SHRC SEEKS REPORT ON ENGINEER’S KILLING

SRINAGAR, November 1: State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has directed the Kashmir police chief to file within seven days a factual report on the killing of a Kashmiri engineer in Delhi, which sparked massive protest here.
  
The directions from SHRC chairman M Y Kawoosa came on a complaint filed by Ishfaq Ahmad Lone, brother of the deceased engineer Irshad Ahmad Lone.

The complaint alleged that Irshad, a resident of Channapora, had gone to Delhi for seeking a job in an automobile company but arrested and later tortured to death by the Delhi police on September 21.
 
Seeking justice, it prayed that the circumstances in which Irshad was killed be investigated and those found guilty punished.
The SHRC directed the Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir range to furnish a detailed factual report in the matter by November 7.
However, the Delhi police have already denied the allegations.

SHRC RESENT OVER HARASSMENT OF CIVILIANS

SRINAGAR, November 2: Expressing strong resentment over harassment and damage to property of civilians during gunfights by the army, the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) termed it as “breach of human rights.” 

The commission also recommended compensation of Rs 75,000 to a villager of south Kashmir’s Islamabad district, whose house was damaged by army in a gunfight.  Ghulam Rasool Naik son of Abdul Khaliq of Batgund Veerinag filed a complaint before the commission alleging that on June 30, 2002 some unknown persons knocked at the gate of his house. 

 
“He and his family members were asked to come out. When they came out, the troops and Ikhwanies (renegades) had cordoned off the area. They (troops) were fired at by the militants who made a safe escape. Later on, complainant was arrested by the army personnel and released after seven months. Meanwhile, his family members were directed to leave the village and the army personnel damaged his house,” Chairperson SHRC Justice M.Y Kawoosa noted in the judgement. 

The commission sought a report in the matter from the police. Police informed the commission that when troopers entered the house of the complainant, militants opened fire at them killing a trooper and an Ikhwani on the spot. 

“They (police) has not clarified that the militants were hiding in the house of complainant. Worse comes worst, if we believe that the militants were there how the complainant could stop the entrance of the militants who are always armed with latest weapons. Civilians face threats of the gunpoint at such occasion. It is the duty of armed personnel to take care of civilians who are left to lurch on such occasions,” Justice Kawoos observed. 

 
“Here, it is obvious that there is breach of human rights. Police has not stressed that the complainant is directly involved in the militancy but it is on the other hand proved by the Revenue authorities that his house was damaged in cross firing,” Justice Kawoos held. 
3 DAY LONG CORDON AND SEARCH OPERATION ENDED

November 27: The three day long cordon and search operation ended at Rampora- Bandipora. As the operation ended large number of people took to streets and held strong protest demonstrations. They alleged atrocities by security forces. They alleged that security forces blasted their houses, completely damaging five residential houses and partially destroying seven others. 

Police said as the security forces cordoned off Shah Mohalla at Rampora three days back, they came under attack by militants. During the encounter, two security men, a Special Police Officer (SPO) and a government employee were killed. 

However, the local residents claimed that no militant was present in the village. Qari Ghulam Mohammad Shah said the incident occurred due to misunderstanding between security forces after a misfire. Apprehending a militant attack, they opened fire on each other, which resulted in the casualties. 

Shah said after the firing, the forces targeted the residential houses with bomb shells. His own house was completely damaged in the shelling. So were the houses of Ghulam Mohammad Shah, Mubina Begum, Mushtaq Ahmad Shah, and Hilal Ahmad Malik. Houses of Ghulam Ahmad Mir, Mansoor Ahmad Shah, Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din Shah, Athar Gulzar Shah, Namdar Malik, Abdul Salam Shah and Mubarak Ahmad Shah were partially damaged. 

The local people said as the security forces could not locate any militant after blasting the houses; they extended their cordon to Bapora, Gamaroo, Gundpora and Loodora villages. They opened fire there causing panic.

 The people asked the local authorities as to why their area was converted into ruins even as militants were not present there. Police said during searches three mobile phones and a damaged wireless set was recovered from village. 

  
LOLAB VILLAGE RANSACKED DURING ARMY SEARCHES

LOLAB, November 14: Ikhwanis (renegades) accompanying the army on a crackdown ransacked homes in a Gujjar locality in Lolab, Kupwara, and allegedly made off with Rs. 14000 from the residence of the imam of the local mosque. Personnel of the 19 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) cordoned off the Gujjarpati locality at around 7 a.m. on November 14 for searches and ordered all men folk of the village into the open for an identification parade.

 
Locals said that a group of armed Ikhwanis accompanied the army assisting it in the search operations.

The villagers were put through an identification parade from 7 in the morning till 1 in the afternoon during which searches were carried out in homes, the locals said, adding that the police did not accompany the army in the operation.

Locals alleged that Ikhwanis searched the home of the local imam, Molvi Muhammad Ismail Gojar, and not only ransacked the family’s belongings but also stole Rs 14000 from the house.

Molvi Ismail said that out of the stolen amount, Rs 3000 belonged to the mosque committee and the rest was his own property.

The villagers alleged that the Ikhwanis ransacked homes and harassed women and children during house-to-house searches.

The inhabitants of the village took their complaints to the commander of the army camp concerned but had to return disappointed by a lack of response.

Defence spokesman, A.K. Mathur said that the village was searched after the army received reports of militant presence in the area. He said that the police accompanied the army in the operation and no Ikhwani helped the forces in the searches. He said that they had received reports that the imam was aiding and abetting militants and that was why his house was searched minutely. He denied that any house had been ransacked or that money had been stolen from any villager.

SHO DARHAL SUSPENDED, PROBE ORDERED
JAMMU, November 5: The Station House Officer (SHO) Darhal Farooq Ahmed was today place under suspension by SSP Rajouri Farooq Khan after a 45-year-old civilian Ghulam Qadir was severely beaten-up in custody of police station, rendering him critical.
 
Reports said Ghulam Qadir was detained three days back for questioning where he was mercilessly beaten-up by the police personnel. Even when he was freed, police didn’t allow him to be taken to Rajouri for treatment for the fear that torture to the civilian will be exposed.
 
Some people from Darhal approached Deputy Commissioner, Rajouri Pervez Malik who immediately directed shifting of Ghulam Qadir to Rajouri. The civilian was admitted in District Hospital, Rajouri where his condition was stated to be serious.
 
Immediately after getting a report, SSP Rajouri Farooq Khan ordered suspension of the SHO Darhal and ordered an inquiry into the incident.

PROTEST LAND ACQUISITION BY ARMY, OUTSIDERS: GEELANI
SRINAGAR, November 3: Syed Ali Shah Geelani, chairman Hurriyat Conference (G) strongly opposed the recent government move to lease out land in different parts of the state to the investors from outside. 

 
Geelani said that the aim of leasing out land to non- residents of the state is nothing, but to further strengthen the "illegal occupation of India in the state". 

 
He remarked that Government of India has adopted an Israel type of policy in the state, by giving land to non- residents of J&K in the name of establishing better tourism infrastructure in the state. Two lakh and 10 thousand kanals of state land have already illegally been occupied and army cantonments have been established on that. We will never allow our future generations to be dragged out from their own land by outsiders, which is presently happening in Palestine," Geelani said. 

 
He claimed that former chief minister Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah passed Land Grants Bill in the state legislature to strengthen the "illegal occupation of India in the state." "I strongly opposed the bill, but a conspiracy was hatched by political leaders to pass the bill in the state assembly. Maharaja Hari Singh was always against the leasing of land to outsiders. But the present government is following the agenda of Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah. The Land Grants Act, which is against the interest of people, should be immediately abolished to safeguard the interests of our future generations", Geelani said. 

 
He stated that the state government has already provided lot of land to forces. "Recently state government provided hundreds of kanals of state land to Indian Air force to construct an airport at Manasbal in north Kashmir. Now government is leasing out more land at Gulmarg and Pahalgam to the people who are not the permanent residents of J&K," the Hurriyat (G) chairman said. 

 
He viewed that he is not against better tourism infrastructure in the state. Geelani favoured leasing out of land to local investors. 

 
Hurriyat (G) chairman also released figures which he said pertained to the state land "illegally occupied by Indian forces". He added that the figures were collected by Hurriyat (G). 

 
According to the figures, army has occupied 2171 kanals of land in district Kupwara, 3066 kanals in Anantnag, 3782 kanals in Budgam, 565 kanals in Pulwama, 13815 kanals in Baramulla, 6613 kanals in Srinagar, 143965 kanals in Leh and 11156 kanals of land in Kargil. 

 
He also added that Border Security Forces (BSF) have also occupied large chunks of state land. In district Baramulla, BSF has occupied 1230 kanals of land, 386 kanals in Kupwara, 96 kanals in Budgam, 355 kanals in Pulwama, 216 kanals in Anantnag and 6195 kanals in Srinagar. 

Geelani stated that CRPF has occupied 95 kanals in district Baramulla, 32 kanals in Kupwara, 22 kanals in Budgam, 37 kanals in Pulwama, 308 kanals in Anantnag and 179 kanals in Srinagar. The land under ITBP includes 487 kanals in district Baramulla, 10 kanals in Kupwara and 18 kanals in Budgam, he added.

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS
· ONLY 1 CUSTODIAL DISAPPEARANCE IN MY RULE: CHIEF MINISTER
RAJOURI, November 2: While admitting that large number of people have disappeared in the custody of armed forces in the past 17 years, the Jammu & Kashmir Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said only one person has gone missing in the custody of troops in the past one year of his rule. 

 
Addressing a public gathering at Dak Bungalow, Rajouri, Azad compared his rule with the past governments. 
· 100 ARMY MEN COMMIT SUICIDE, INFILTRATION ON: ARMY CHIEF   
SRINAGAR, November 3: General Joginder Jaswant Singh, Chief of the Army Staff, disclosed that on an average 100 cases of suicides by the jawans have been registered by the army for the last five years while as the fratricidal cases are a few. 

 
However, Singh declined to attribute the cause of suicides by the army jawans to operational stress. He said that the army is taking a pro-active approach to analyse the causes responsible for such incidents. 

 
"In 1.3 million army men, the five cases of fratricide which have happened recently is not an indicator that something is wrong but we are concerned about these unfortunate incidents," said Singh.

 
“Only 4 per cent of the allegations about the human rights violations that have been reported were found true and we have taken a strong action against 110 army officers and jawans who were found guilty in such incidents by the court of inquiry," remarked Singh.  
" Infiltration, cross border terrorism is continuing but the level of violence as compared to past two years has been reduced and the there has been 30 per cent decrease in physical casualties from the non combatant side (civilians) from the last two years." 
· 17 ARMY MEN PUNISHED: SK SINHA
November 3: The Jammu and Kashmir Governor Lt. Gen (Retd) SK Sinha while speaking to the European Parliamentarians said that 17 army officials have been punished for violation human rights. 

· DEMILITARIZATION UNREALISTIC: IGP JAMMU 

November 3: Inspector General Police (IGP) Jammu SP Vaid said that demilitarization is an unrealistic proportion.


According to him while interrogating militants they reveal that around 50 to 58 militants camps are still operational in Pakistan administered Kashmir. Still on average 400 to 500 militants are killed every year, which is a significant number. Therefore, demilitarization won’t be wise decision giving militants a free hand.    
· 40 % OF NEW CRPF RECRUITS FROM J&K

New Delhi, November 4: The Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) will go for a massive recruitment drive in January to employ more than 16,000 constables besides other personnel to raise 10 additional battalions during 2006-07.

 
Forty per cent recruitment will be from Jammu and Kashmir and other areas affected by militancy and extremism to provide additional employment opportunities to the youth of these areas, the Home Ministry announced.

 
The remaining 60 per cent vacancies will be filled proportionately from other states and territories.

· PAKISTAN INFILTRATION INTO KASHMIR HAS DOUBLED: AZAD

November 5: Pakistani infiltration into Jammu and Kashmir has doubled this year, according to the state Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad who has, consequently, ruled out reduction of troops.
 
An estimated 500 Pakistani infiltrators have crossed into the State in the first 10 months of this year; he said, recalling that in the corresponding period last year the figure was less than 200.
· 51 NEWS BATTALIONS TO BE RAISED

NEW DELHI, November 11: Jammu & Kashmir government is gearing up for pullout of the Army and the central para-military forces from the troubled state by raising own 51 armed battalions for the takeover. 

The move is aimed at not only removing Army and Border Security Forces (BSF) from the civilian areas but also to create job opportunities for more than 60,000 local youths and thus prevent poaching of the jobless by the terrorist organisations. 

Until before the onset of militancy in the Kashmir valley, the J&K police strength was just about 30,000 while it has now gone up to 75,000 and as such raising of the new battalions would almost double the strength. 
· 700 MILITANTS ACTIVE IN VALLEY: IGP

SRINAGAR, November 16: Inspector General of Police (IGP), Kashmir range S. M Sahai claimed that 700 militants are active in the Kashmir valley. 

NEWS IN BRIEF

· MILITANTS KILL PDD EMPLOYEE 

November 8: Police recovered a bullet-ridden body of an employee of Power Development Department PDD in Islamabad (Anantnag) district. The deceased, Javid Ahmad Bhat son of Ghulam Muhammad of Kulgam was abducted by militants on Monday November 7night. 

Hizbul Mujahideen spokesman Junaid-ul-Islam in a telephonic statement said Javid was killed by the outfit’s militants for facilitating the arrest of Riyaz Ahmad, Hizb’s district commander for Islamabad. 

· TWO CIVILIANS SHOT DEAD

SRINAGAR, November 18: Suspected militants gunned down two civilians in their houses at Chak Nutnusa village, about 10 kilometers short of Kupwara on Srinagar-Kupwara road.
 
The killed civilians have been identified as Mohammad Sultan Ganai, 48, son of Abdul Sattar Ganai and Manzoor Ahmed Mir son of Sona Ullah Mir, residents of Chak Nutnusa, official sources said.
 
Official sources said the militants first took dinner in the house of Ganai and later shot dead him at 9.45 pm. They also killed Manzoor Ahmed in his house and escaped.

· ARRESTS IN TRAL TRIGGER PROTESTS

TRAL, November 9: At least 50 people were arrested by the Rashtriya Rifles troops in Tral town of south Kashmir’s Pulwama district on Wednesday November 8, triggering massive protests in the area on November 9. 

 
The people were taken into custody after an IED explosion took place at Awrigund village of Tral on November 8, afternoon. 
 
On November 9, morning, the people took to streets chanting anti-India slogans. The protesters, including many women, burnt worn out tyres and pelted stones at government buildings and shops in a bid to enforce shutdown in the area. 
 
They said the troopers have “unleashed a reign of terror” in the area, making the life of the residents miserable. “They arrested the people who were either working in their fields or passed through the area at the time of the blast,” said Abdur Rahim Dar, a protester. 

 
Station House Officer, Tral, Manzoor Ahmad told all the people have been released.   

“I was there at the Army camp and ensured that everybody is released,” he said.

· 55-YR–OLD TEACHER PICKED UP BY SOG

BANDIPORA, November 13: A 55-year old teacher was picked up by Jammu and Kashmir police’s Special Operations Group (SOG) while he was proceeding for his teaching session in Bandipora. 

 
The 55-year Master Haji Muhammad Akram Wani son of late Muhammad Sidiq Wani of Chak ReshiPora Bandipora was picked up by SOG when he was going for his regular duty at Kalusa where he teaches in Bandipora Higher Secondary School. 

· YOUTH DISAPPEARS 

November 4: A student Bashir Ahmad Bhat son of Dr. Ghulam Mohammad Ahmad Bhat of Batamaloo, Srinagar is reportedly missing since Friday, November 3, 2006. 

· TEENAGERS MISSING

KANGAN, November 25: Two teenagers identified as Abdul Majid Sheikh, son of Fazil Ahmad Sheikh of Goripora and Rafiq Ahmad Khan son of Shahnaz Khan of Wusan Balla are missing for the past 13 days. Their parents have lodged a report in Police Station Kangan. However, police has failed to locate their whereabouts.

· SOLDIER KIDNAPS GIRL

SRINAGAR, November 12: Reports said that a soldier of Army’s Rashtriya Rifles (RR) has allegedly kidnapped a girl in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district, on Sunday November 12. 

 Constable Niraj Kumar of 47 RR kidnapped the girl (name withheld) from Wadpora village of the border district. 

It said the parents of the girl lodged a complaint in Police Station Kupwara following which the police and army have launched a manhunt to nab the accused.

CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS IN THE MONTH OF NOVEMBER 2006

Nov 1: Police recovered dead body of a surrendered militant who was abducted by unknown gunmen from Kairwali Wakiwali Udhampure. 

Nov 2: One Special Police officer and one Border Security Force (BSF) personnel 

Nov 3: One LeT militant killed in an encounter with troops in Poonch, Jammu. 

Nov 4: No incident of killing reported. 

Nov 5: Four of family including three women, two LeT militants and a minor boy was killed in violence related incidents across the state.  While two youth were allegedly killed in custody by Special Operation Group (SOG) in Doda.  

Nov 6: One SPO, one civilian and one HUJI militant were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. While a soldier of 15 Garhwal Rifles of 14 Corpse died to the mysterious gunshots.
Nov 7: One policeman, one civilian and three militants including one HM militant were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

Nov 8: One HM, three LeT militants, one unidentified militant and a woman were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

Nov 9: One personnel of JKLI was killed in violence related incident while a dead body of a woman was recovered from Qazigund. 

Nov 10: Five civilians including four of a family were killed in Tahab, Pulwama when an unidentified person attacked a  religious congregation. 

Nov 11: One civilian was killed in violence related incidents in the valley. 

Nov 12: One HM militant died in violence related incidents while a girl succumbed to her injuries she received in a grenade explosion in Tahab, Pulwama.  

Nov 13:Two militants and an army personnel killed in violence related incidents across the state. 

Nov 14: One more civilian injured in Tahab, Pulwama explosion succumbed to injuries.  

Nov 15: Ten militants including one HM militant and one-army personnel were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state.

Nov 16: Three militants were killed in violence related incidents in the valley.  

Nov 17: Two LeT militants were killed Kupwara in an encounter while an army personnel committed suicide at Nachilana in Banihal tehsil of Doda district

Nov 18: One militant and two civilians were killed in an encounter Dagarhi Khour in Jammu. 

Nov 19: Two activists of the Peoples Democratic Front were killed by unidentified gunmen.  
Nov 20: One LeT militant, one HM militant and one unidentified militants were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

Nov 21:Two HM militants and a Junior Engineer were killed in violence related incidents in the valley while a dead body of Kashmir University Student was recovered from Awantipora, Pulwama district. 

Nov 22: One personnel of JAKLI, one HM militant and a civilian were killed in the state. 

Nov 23: Three LeT militants in violence related incidents in the state. 

Nov 24: Three LeT militants and a civilian were killed in violence related incidents across the state. 

Nov 25: Six army men, one SPO, one militant and a civilian were killed in violence related incidents across the state. 

Nov 26: Two LeT militants were killed in the valley in violence related incidents. 

Nov 27: One militant of Al Mansoorain was killed in an encounter with troops at Qazigund on Srinagar – Jammu highway. 

Nov 28: One HM commander and one army Major were killed in violence related incidents. 

Nov 29: Dead bodies of two women were recovered state police from two separate places in valley. 

Nov 30: Three HM militants were killed in violence related incidents across the state.
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF NOVEMBER 2006
	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	Nov 01
	-
	-
	-
	1 surrendered militant 

	Nov 02
	2
	-
	-
	-

	Nov 03
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Nov 04
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Nov 05
	-
	2
	7
	-

	Nov 06
	2
	1
	1
	-

	Nov 07
	1
	3
	1
	-

	Nov 08
	-
	4
	1
	-

	Nov 09
	1
	-
	1
	-

	Nov 10
	-
	-
	5
	-

	Nov 11
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Nov 12
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Nov 13
	1
	2
	-
	-

	Nov 14
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Nov 15
	1
	10
	-
	-

	Nov 16
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Nov 17
	1
	2
	-
	-

	Nov 18
	-
	1
	2
	-

	Nov 19
	-
	-
	-
	2 political activists 

	Nov 20
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Nov 21
	-
	2
	2
	-

	Nov 22
	1
	1
	1
	-

	Nov 23
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Nov 24
	-
	3
	1
	-

	Nov 25
	7
	1
	1
	

	Nov 26
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Nov 27
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Nov 28
	1
	1
	-
	-

	Nov 29
	-
	-
	2
	-

	Nov 30
	-
	3
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	18
	50
	28
	3

	Total Killings
	99


	Date
	Custodial killings and Extra Judicial Executions 
	Women Killed
	Children Killed
	Alleged Disappearances

	Nov 5
	2 EJK
	3
	1
	-

	Nov 8
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Nov 9
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Nov 12
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Nov 29
	-
	2
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	2
	7
	2
	0




Women / Children Killed 


Nov 5: Militants allegedly gunned down four members of a family including three women in their house at Maglogi, Dalwa in Gool area of Ramban police district.


 	The deceased were identified as, 25 year old Mobin, Ahad’s 50 year old wife Fatima Begum and Shaida, 30, daughter of Abdul Samad


Nov 5: A minor boy was killed and three others critically injured in a powerful explosion in Bandipora area of Baramulla district in Kashmir today, official sources said. 


 	The blast took place when some boys found an explosive device while playing in a field at Sunervani village of Bandipora, 55 km from here, and fiddled with it, they said. 


 	While eight-year-old Muntazir Mushtaq Wani died on the spot, three other boys Maqsood Wani (11) and twins Muneer and Juned Wani (both 7) were critically injured. They were rushed to a nearby hospital, from where they were referred to a Srinagar hospital for specialized treatment. 


Nov 8: Some unidentified gunmen entered a house at Warpora, Sopore in Baramulla and fired upon one Raja Begum. Raja died on the spot. The reason of her killing was not known. 


Nov 9: Police recovered body of a woman from Qazigund in south Kashmir’s Islamabad district on Thursday the November 9. The identity of woman was not established. 


Nov 12: A girl who injured critically in an explosion in Tahab Pulwama succumbed to her injuries. The deceased identified as Shazia (10) of Pulwama. 


Nov 29: Police recovered two dead bodies of women from two separate places of valley. Out of two only the identity of one was established as Hajra, 60, w/o Ghulam Mohammad Misgar of Nawab Bazaar, Srinagar. Her body was fished out from river Jehlum near Pampore, Pulwama while the other body was recovered from Saidpora, Sumbal, Barmulla.  





HEROES HONORED IN THE PAST:


2003: Mohammad Subhan Hajam (a social reformer who banned prostitution in Jammu & Kashmir)


2004: Abdus Salam Rafiqui (who published the first Urdu Jammu & Kashmir newspaper “Al- Rafiq”)


2005: K.H. Khurshid (First elected President of Azad Kashmir)


2006: Khawaja Mir Abdul Aziz





ROBERT THORPE AWARDEES:


2003: Patricia Gossman (Researcher Asia Watch, Human Rights Watch)


2004: Aasia Jeelani (Founder Editor Voices Unheard)


2005: Advocate Jalil Andrabi (Human Rights Lawyer & activist) & Justice S.M. Rizvi (High Court Judge)


2006: Abdur Rauf Wani
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